
- over - 

AGENDA FOR 

BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Elkhart Community Schools 

Elkhart, Indiana 

 
January 22, 2019 

 
CALENDAR 

 

Jan 22 5:30 p.m. Executive Session, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Jan 22 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Feb 12 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Feb 21 12:00 p.m. Board Retreat, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Feb 22 12:00 p.m. Board Retreat, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

Feb 26 5:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, North Side Middle School, 300 Lawrence St. 

Mar 12 7:00 p.m. Regular Board Meeting, J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

 

******************* 
A. CALL TO ORDER/PLEDGE 

 
B. THE ELKHART PROMISE 

 

C. INVITATION TO SPEAK PROTOCOL 
 

D. SUPERINTENDENT’S STUDENT ADVISORY COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES 
Memorial High School 
Central High School 

 
E. MINUTES 

January 8, 2019 – Public Work Session Minutes 

January 8, 2019 – Organizational Meeting  
January 8, 2019 – Board of Finance Minutes 
January 8, 2019 – Regular Board Meeting 

 
F. TREASURER'S REPORT 

 

 Consideration of Claims 
 

 Gift Acceptance - The administration recommends Board acceptance with 

appreciation of recent donations made to Elkhart Community Schools. 
 

 Financial Report – January 1, 2018 – December 31, 2018 

 
 Fund Loans – The Business Office reports on fund loans made at the end of 

December, 2018. 

 
  



BOARD AGENDA January 22, 2019 
 
 

2 
   

 Appropriations Transfers – The Business Office reports on the transfer of 
appropriations of the 2018 tax funds. 

 
 Resolution – The Business Office recommends adoption of a Resolution to 

Transfer Funds from Education Fund to the Operations Fund. 

 
 Resolution – The Business Office recommends adoption of a Resolution 

Authorizing the Issuance of Procurement Cards. 

 
 Resolution – The Business Office recommends adoption of a Resolution 

Authorizing the Use of Design-Build Method for the School of Engineering, 

Technology and Innovation Building Project. 
 

 Fundraisers - The Business Office recommends Board approval of proposed 

school fundraisers in accordance with Board Policy. 
 

 Monthly Insurance Report 

 
G. NEW BUSINESS 

 

 Custodial Agreement – The administration recommends Board approval of 
the proposed Agreement with the American Federation of State, County, 

and Municipal Employees (AFL-CIO, Local #2925). 
 

 Overnight Trip Requests - The administration seeks Board approval of 

overnight trip requests. 
 

H. PERSONNEL 

 
 Conference Leaves - It is recommended the Board grant conference leave 

requests in accordance with Board Policy to staff members as recommended 

by the administration. 
 

 Certified and Classified Staff - See the report and recommendations of the 

administration. 
 

I. INFORMATION AND PROPOSALS 

 
 From Audience 

 

 From Superintendent and Staff 
 

 From Board 

 
J. ADJOURNMENT 

 



MINUTES OF THE 
PUBLIC WORK SESSION 

OF THE 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 

 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 

 
January 8, 2019 

 

J.C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Road, Elkhart – at 
5:30 p.m. 
 

Place/Time 

Board Members Douglas K. Weaver Susan C. Daiber 

Present: Kellie L. Mullins Rodney J. Dale 

 Carolyn R. Morris Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr. 

   

Absent:  Babette S. Boling 

   

ECS Personnel    

Present: Steven Thalheimer Doug Thorne 
  Cheryl Waggoner 
   

 

Roll Call 

The Board discussed its slate of officers, the current Board packet, potential 

dates for the February retreat, and meetings with the new Superintendent, 
Dr. Steven Thalheimer. 
 

Dr. Thalheimer discussed his plan to meet with administrators, his 
expectations, and preparations for the Board retreat. 
 

Topics 

Discussed 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 6:30 p.m. 
 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Douglas K. Weaver, President 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Kellie L. Mullins, Vice President 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Carolyn R. Morris, Secretary 

 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Babette S. Boling, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Susan C. Daiber, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Rodney J. Dale, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr., Member 

 

 

 
Signatures 

 



MINUTES OF THE 
ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING 

OF THE 
BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 

 

Elkhart Community Schools 

Elkhart, Indiana 

 

January 8, 2019 

 
J. C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Rd, Elkhart – 7:00 p.m. 
 

Time/Place 

Board Members Douglas K. Weaver Susan C. Daiber 
Present: Kellie L. Mullins Rodney J. Dale 
 Carolyn R. Morris Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr. 
   
Absent:  Babette S. Boling 
   

 

Roll Call 

Outgoing Vice President Doug Weaver called the meeting to order and the 
pledge was recited. 

Call to 
Order/Pledge 
 

By unanimous action, the Board elected Douglas Weaver to serve as president, 
Kellie Mullins to serve as vice president, and Carolyn Morris to serve as 
secretary of the Board of School Trustees and the Finance Committee for 
2019. This election is in accordance with the Board’s long standing rotation 
schedule.  
 

Election of 
Officers 

Three Board members – Rodney Dale, Roscoe Enfield, and Douglas Weaver, 
publicly disclosed potential conflicts of interest. (Codified Files 1819-87) 
 

Conflict of 
Interest 
 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 7:10 p.m. Adjournment 

 
APPROVED: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Douglas K. Weaver, President 
 
 
______________________________ 
Kellie L. Mullins, Vice President 
 
 
______________________________ 
Carolyn R. Morris, Secretary 

 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Babette S. Boling, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Susan C. Daiber, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Rodney J. Dale, Member 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr., Member 

 

 
 
Signatures 

 



 
MINUTES OF THE 

ANNUAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF FINANCE 
 

Elkhart Community Schools 

Elkhart, Indiana 

January 8, 2019 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Road, Elkhart – at 
approx. 7:10 p.m. 
 

Time/Place 

Board Members Douglas K. Weaver Susan C. Daiber 
Present: Kellie L. Mullins Rodney J. Dale 
 Carolyn R. Morris Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr. 
   
Absent:  Babette S. Boling 
   

 

Roll Call 

Outgoing Vice President Douglas Weaver called the annual meeting of the 
Board of Finance to order. 
 

Call to 
Order 

By unanimous action, the Board adopted a resolution authorizing the 
Treasurer of Elkhart Community Schools to invest funds from the depository 
balance instead of from a specific fund balance in accordance with the 
provisions established by Indiana Code 5-13-9.6. 
 

Resolution 

Board members were provided with an investment history report reflecting 
no investment activity during 2018. 

2018 
Investment 
History 
 

By unanimous action, the meeting was adjourned at approximately  
7:15 p.m. 
 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 
 
  ____________________________ 
  Douglas K. Weaver, President 
 
 
ATTESTED: 
 
  ____________________________ 
  Carolyn R. Morris, Secretary 

Signatures 

 



MINUTES 
OF THE REGULAR MEETING 

OF THE BOARD OF SCHOOL TRUSTEES 
 

Elkhart Community Schools 
Elkhart, Indiana 
January 8, 2019 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center, 2720 California Road, Elkhart – at 

7:15 p.m. 
 

Place/Time 

Board Members Douglas K. Weaver Susan C. Daiber 
Present: Kellie L. Mullins Rodney J. Dale 

 Carolyn R. Morris Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr. 
   
Absent:  Babette S. Boling 

   
 

Roll Call 

President Douglas Weaver called the regular meeting of the Board of 
School Trustees to order. 

 

Call to 
Order 

Superintendent, Dr. Steven Thalheimer, recited the Elkhart Promise. The Elkhart 
Promise 

Mr. Weaver discussed the invitation to speak protocol. 

 

 

Superintendent’s Student Advisory Council (SSAC) representatives from 
both high schools introduced themselves: Shelby Buss, a senior from 

Memorial High School (MHS) and Juan Resendiz, a junior from Central 
High School (CHS).  Shelby Buss is president of SSAC and the class of 
2019.  Ms. Buss reported on the following activities:  the annual winter 

dance is January 18th; the school magazine (GENESIS) and yearbook 
(Monolith) both received first place awards in the American Scholastic 
Press Association contest for their 2018 publications; the final print 

version of GENESIS was distributed today and will be launching its 
website in February; two students had the opportunity to meet former 
Senator Richard Lugar during his annual Symposium for Tomorrow’s 

Leaders; in winter sports girls basketball won the Holiday Hoopfest 
Tournament at South Bend Washington in December, both swim teams 
are off to a strong start, and senior Kallie Canfield will be going to the 

Indiana High School Girls Wrestling state meet next Friday.  Ms. Buss 
plans to attend Purdue in the Fall.  Mr. Resendiz reported the following 
music activities:  band, choir and orchestra are working toward 

upcoming solo and ensemble competitions; the pep band, Blazeline and 
cheerleaders entertained twice over the holiday break at Notre Dame 
women’s basketball games with coach Muffet McGraw personally 

thanking them for bringing the energy to the basketball arena; and the 
Blazeline and winter guard are also working hard to prepare for 
competitions.  Mr. Resendiz also reported the gymnastic team won their 

holiday invitational, and wrestling and girls basketball are having 
successful seasons.  Mr. Resendiz plans to attend Ball State after 
graduation in 2020. 

SSAC 
Representatives 



2 
 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the December 18, 2018 – 
Business Meeting minutes. 

 

Approval of 
Minutes 

By unanimous action, the Board approved payment of claims totaling 
$13,572,868.37 as shown on the January 8, 2019, claims listing.  

(Codified File 1819-88)   
 

Payment of 
Claims 

By unanimous action, the Board adopted an organizational resolution 

naming Kevin Scott, treasurer; Erica Purvis, deputy treasurer; copy 
fees; officers and members of the Board of Finance shall be the same as 
the officers and members of the Board of School Trustees; Board 

member compensation; cash management provider is Lake City Bank; 
Legal Counsel is Barnes & Thornburg; legal notices to be published in 
the Elkhart Truth and Goshen News; mileage rate is $.58; and bond 

amounts.  In response to Board inquiry, Mr. Scott stated the district is 
required to publish notices in two local newspapers.  (Codified File 1819-
89) 

 

Resolution of 

Board of School 
Trustees 
 

By unanimous action, the Board adopted a resolution authorizing the 
transfer of funds during calendar year 2019.  (Codified File 1819-90) 

Resolution to 
Authorize Fund 

Loans for 2019 
 

By unanimous action, the Board accepted with appreciation the following 
donations made to Elkhart Community Schools (ECS):  51 hat and scarf 
sets handmade by Ruth Ann Owens to be distributed through social 

workers to children and families in need; and $25,000 from Lippert 
Components, Inc.; $75,000 from Brian and Lauri Smith; and $50,000 
from Thad and Rachelle Naquin for renovations to Rice Field and North 

Side Gym.  In response to Board inquiry, Mr. Scott stated there is a list 
of proposed improvements to the facilities and there was a group led by 
the superintendent that included both athletic directors and others who 

set the priorities of the projects. 
 

Gift Acceptance 

By unanimous action, the Board approved proposed school fundraisers 

in accordance with Board policy.  The funds raised through the listed 
activities are deposited into each school’s extra-curricular fund. (Codified 
File 1819-91) 

 

Fundraisers 

 

By unanimous action (Weaver abstained), the Board removed from the 
table, approved proposed revisions and waived second reading of Board 

Policy 3422.08S – Paraprofessionals’ Compensation Plan. 
 

Board Policy 
3422.08S 

 

By unanimous action, the Board authorized the administration to enter 

into an amended real estate lease with DRTY, LLC for the property at 
307 S. Main Street.  (Codified File 1819-92) 
 

Amended Real 

Estate Lease 
 

  



3 
 

The Board reviewed proposed course offerings for the 2019-2020 school 
year, including: Quantitative Reasoning; Ethnic Studies; Industrial 

Technical Maintenance II; Interactive Media 5232; and Health Science 
Education II: Athletic Training.  Phil Lederach, director of secondary 
instruction, reported a new math course, Analytical Algebra II, was 

approved by the Indiana Department of Education (IDOE) in December.  
The course is in the process of being approved for the Core 40 diploma 
designation. 

 

New Course 
Offerings 

 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the following overnight trip 
requests: for two Pierre Moran choir students to travel to Fort Wayne, IN 

on January 17-19, to participate in the Indiana Music Education 
Association middle school honor choir festival; and confirmed Central’s 
girls basketball team traveled to Columbus, IN on December 27-28, 

2018 to participate in the a basketball tournament. 
 

Overnight Trip 
Request 

By unanimous action, the Board approved the following personnel 

recommendations of the administration: 
 

Personnel 

Report 

Agreement regarding unpaid time for a certified staff member. 

(Codified Files 1819-93) 

Consent 

Agreement 
 

Employment of certified staff member, Frank Rossi, Air Force 
JROTC at Central for the 2018-2019 school year effective 1/7/19. 

 

Certified 
Employment 
 

Resignation of the following two (2) certified staff members 
effective on dates indicated: 

Howard Edwards - assistant principal at Memorial, 6/28/19 

Amy Miller - special education at Roosevelt, 12/21/18 
 

Certified 
Resignations 
 

Employment of the following eleven (11) classified employees who 

have successfully completed their probationary period on dates 
indicated: 

Jamie Avery - food service at Monger, 12/21/18 

Miranda Doolittle - food service at Central, 12/21/18 
Tiffany Fisher - food service at Osolo, 12/21/18 
Tracy Fisher - social worker at Daly, 12/21/18 

Theresa Hammond - paraprofessional at EACC, 1/8/19 
Rosa Manay - bus helper at Transportation, 12/21/18 
Susan Stephan - paraprofessional at Memorial, 12/21/18 

Brenda Stow - bus helper at Transportation, 1/7/19 
Jeri Strebinger - food service at Feeser, 12/21/18 
Jennifer VanDoren - paraprofessional at Beardsley, 1/7/19 

Mariana Villalobos - misc. translator/parent liaison at 
Roosevelt, 12/21/18 

 

Classified 

Employment 
 

  



4 
 

Resignation of the following three (3) classified employees effective 
on the dates indicated: 

Nicole Cantzler - permanent substitute at Bristol, 12/21/18 
Kimberly Gappa - food service manager at Bristol, 12/21/18 
Chakiea Jackson - paraprofessional at Bristol, 1/11/19 

 
 

Classified 
Resignation 

 

Retirement of the following two (2) classified employees on dates 

indicated with years of service in parenthesis: 
Donna Christy – bus driver at Transportation, 1/7/19, (15) 
Rick Newman – custodian at Central, 12/21/18, (17) 
 

Classified 

Retirement 
 

Leave for classified employee Bianca Avendano, bus driver at 

Transportation, beginning 1/7/19 and ending 6/5/19. 
 

Classified 

Leave 
 

Termination of classified employee, Becky Schindler, custodian at 

EACC, in accordance with Board Policy 3139.01S, effective 
1/8/19. 
 

Classified 

Termination 
 

In response to Board inquiry, Cheryl Waggoner, director of human 
resources, provided information regarding current job opening within the 
district. 

 

Personnel 

A bus driver in the audience asked for clarification on the distribution of 
stipends. 

 

From the 
Audience 

Dr. Thalheimer welcomed everyone and thanked the staff for all of the 
information they have provided. 

From the 
Superintendent 

 
Board member, Susan Daiber, welcomed the new superintendent and 
Board members. 

 

From the Board 
 

  



5 
 

The meeting adjourned at approximately 7:40 p.m. 
 

Adjournment 

APPROVED: 
 
  ____________________________________ 

  Douglas K. Weaver, President 
 
 

  ____________________________________ 
  Kellie L. Mullins, Vice President 
 

 
  ____________________________________ 
  Carolyn R. Morris, Secretary 

 
 

____________________________________ 

  Babette S. Boling, Member 
 
 

____________________________________ 
  Susan C. Daiber, Member 

 
 

____________________________________ 

  Rodney J. Dale, Member 
 
 

____________________________________ 
  Roscoe L. Enfield, Jr., Member 
 

Signatures 

 



PETTY CASH $ 500.00                     

GENERAL ACCOUNTS:                      

     Lake City Bank - Deposit Account 19,616,706.04          
     Lake City Bank – Accounts Payable (856,076.87)             
     Lake City Bank – Merchant Account                                              -                           
     Teachers Credit Union                                                           2,933,026.20            
     BMO Harris Bank (UMR insurance) 407,420.00               

SCHOOL LUNCH ACCOUNTS:
     Lake City Bank - Prepaid Lunch                                                                       289,023.30               
     Change Fund            2,010.00                   

TEXTBOOK RENTAL ACCOUNTS:

     Chase Bank 2,591,149.27            

PAYROLL ACCOUNTS:

     Lake City Bank – Payroll Account                                        (384,851.65)             
     Lake City Bank – Flex Account                                                  72,727.60                 
     

INVESTMENTS:

     Certificate of Deposit  -                           
                                                                                                                            

24,671,633.89$          

ACCOUNT BALANCES/INVESTMENT DETAIL
December 2018









 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DATE:  January 7, 2019 

 

TO:  Dr. Steve Thalheimer 

  Board of School Trustees 

 

FROM:  Jacquie Rost, Athletic Director 

 

RE:  Donation Approval 

 

We are in receipt of an extracurricular donation in the amount of $500.00 for the girls/boys track team.  

This donation will go towards the purchase of team sweats, team shirts, shoes, equipment, and other 

miscellaneous costs associated with this program. 

 

I am requesting approval from the Board of School Trustees to accept this donation and that an 

appropriate letter of acknowledgement and appreciation is sent to: 

 

Todd Cleveland 

c/o Patrick Industries, Inc. 
107 W. Franklin Street 
PO Box 638 

Elkhart IN  46516 



 
INTERNAL MEMO 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

2720 California Road • Elkhart, IN 46514 

 

 
 
 
To:   Kevin Scott 
   
From:  Erica Purvis 
 
Date:   January 3, 2019 
  
Subject: Temporary Inter-fund Loans 
 
 
The following loans have been paid back effective 12/28/18: 
 
 
$333,000 from Fund 0250 Retire/Sev Bond to Fund 0200 Debt Service Fund 

$803,000 from Fund 0350 Capital Projects Fund to Fund 0410 Transportation Fund 

$14,000 from Fund 0420 Bus Replacement Fund to Fund 0410 Transportation Fund 

 
 



GENERAL FUND DECREASED INCREASED

11000 Instruction 598,147.89                           
12000 Special Programs 222,155.86                         
13000 Adult/Continuing Education 105,079.49                           
14000 Summer School Programs 25,785.76                             
15000 Enrichment Programs 18,220.14                             
16000 Remediation 9,001.77                                
17000 Payments to Other Govt Units 1,254,848.96                     
21000 Support Services - Students 356,399.19                           
22000 Support Services - Instruction 188,404.74                         
23000 Support Services - General Admin 369,966.19                           
24000 Support Services - School Admin 520,259.22                           
25000 Central Services 192,978.07                           
27000 Student Transportation 494.00                                 

45000
Building Acquisition, Contruction & 
Improvement 1,701.00                             

60000 Nonprogrammed Charges 528,233.16                         
2,195,837.72                  2,195,837.72                

REFERENDUM TAX LEVY DECREASED INCREASED

26000 Operation & Maint of Plant Services 13,383.72                           
27000 Student Transportation 1,413,383.72                        
60000 Nonprogrammed Charges 1,400,000.00                     

1,413,383.72                  1,413,383.72                

DEBT SERVICE FUND DECREASED INCREASED

25000 Central Services 500.00                                 
52000 Interest on Debt 13,600.00                             
59000 Other Debt Service Obligations 13,100.00                           

13,600.00                        13,600.00                      

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND DECREASED INCREASED

22000 Support Services - Instruction 1,629,155.65                     
25000 Central Services 2,093,680.24                        
26000 Operation & Maint of Plant Services 119,667.17                         
41000 Land Acquisition and Development 212,772.49                           
43000 Professional Services 312,212.03                         
47000 Purchase of Mobile or Fixed Equipment 179,994.96                         
49000 Other Facilities Acquisition and Construction 65,422.92                           

2,306,452.73                  2,306,452.73                

TRANSPORTATION FUND DECREASED INCREASED

21000 Support Services - Students 23,895.31                           
23000 Support Services - General Admin 19,991.27                           
24000 Support Services - School Admin 85,930.93                           
25000 Central Services 78,852.97                           
26000 Operation & Maint of Plant Services 9,687.96                             
27000 Student Transportation 218,358.44                           

218,358.44                      218,358.44                    

TRANSFER APPROPRIATIONS
2018

















ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

Representatives of AFSCME Local #2925 (AFSCME) and Elkhart Community Schools (ECS) have entered 

into a tentative agreement regarding a successor contract to the Master Contract previously agreed to by 

AFSCME and ECS that expired on December 31, 2018. With the exception of the revisions to the Articles 

indentified in this document all other provisions of the prior Master Contract shall remain unchanged.   



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

 

ARTICLE 6 

 

 TRANSFER, PROMOTION, AND DEMOTION 

 

A. Transfers between positions may be made either voluntarily or involuntarily. 

 

B. When a vacancy opens as a result of a demotion or involuntary transfer, this position will be posted.  If 

this position is filled from within the custodial staff, the position left vacant by a successful applicant 

will be posted.  No further positions will be posted as a result of the original demotion or involuntary 

transfer.   

 

C. The Employer agrees to post job vacancies for custodial positions which the Employer determines need 

to be filled.  The position shall be posted within fifteen (15) days of the employer making the 

determination to fill the position. Such posting shall be for a minimum of five (5) days.  If the 

Employer determines it is helpful or necessary to fill such job temporarily, it may do so.   

 

1. Any employee may bid in writing to Personnel on any job posted.  The Employer agrees to 

fill posted vacancies within twenty-one (21) calendar days after notification to the successful 

bidder.   

 

2. If an employee successfully bids on a job in a higher classification, and at anytime within 

the first forty-five (45) workdays in the new position performs unsatisfactorily, he or she 

shall be returned to the former classification.  A successful bidder will remain in the new 

position for at least forty-five (45) workdays before being allowed to bid for another position 

unless the position is in a higher classification or the successful bidder submits within five 

(5) workdays after the transfer a written request to the Director of Building Services to be 

returned to successful bidder’s previous position.   

 

3. When an employee transfers between positions with the same position description, (e.g. 

heavy duty nights in building A to heavy duty nights in building B, etc.) there shall be no 

transfer probationary period.  Employees transferring in this manner will receive a 

performance evaluation in order to assess whether the employee has successfully 

transitioned into the new position.   

 

4. When an employee transfers between positions where there is a significant difference in 

responsibilities (e.g. heavy duty custodian to grounds, night custodian to day time custodian, 

etc.) there shall be a thirty (30) work day transfer probationary period.  An employee who 

does not successfully complete transfer probation shall be returned to his/her prior 

classification.  Employees will continue to be eligible for all benefits during a transfer 

probationary period. 

 

5. In considering job bids, the Employer agrees to consider seniority and ability as two (2) of the 

basic factors in making a decision.  Ability shall include consideration of  the work record of 

applicant(s), (i.e. evaluation, attendance, discipline), training, and the applicant(s) ability to 

perform the duties of the position, which may be evaluated through a formal interview, that 



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

would include performance by the applicant(s) of job functions that correspond to the duties 

expected of employee filling the position. 

 

D. When ability is comparable then seniority shall be the determining factor. 

 

E. In the event an employee is temporarily assigned to a higher paying job for a period of one or more 

consecutive working days, the employee shall be paid the hourly wage rate of the employee being 

substituted for during all the consecutive days worked in the higher paying position. 

 

At no time will this mean a reduction in a person's hourly rate of pay when filling a temporary 

assignment. 

 

When an employee is performing satisfactorily in the temporary position, the employee will not be 

involuntarily removed from the substitute position, except when the individual is absent for five (5) 

consecutive working days. 

 

F. When a transfer is necessitated as a result of a position elimination, the employee shall continue to be 

paid at the rate of the previous job classification until he or she is offered a position for which he or she 

is qualified as determined by the employer of equal or higher classification and declines, at which time 

the employee shall then be paid at the rate of the classification in which he or she is presently working. 

 

 

  



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

ARTICLE 8 

 

 ABSENCES 

 

A. When unable to report for work, it is the employee's responsibility to notify and give reason for 

absence to the building services office department.  This notice must be given at least sixty (60) 

minutes before the time that the employee regularly reports for work.  Failure to do so will result in an 

unpaid unexcused day.  Upon return to work, the employee shall file a report of absence.  Deductions 

for absence will be made at the hourly rate unless covered by an absence policy. 

 

  



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

 

ARTICLE 15 

 VACATIONS AND VACATION PAY 

 

B. Full-time employees who have been employed for the full year beginning January 1 and ending 

December 31, are entitled to ten (10) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.  

Full-time employees, who have been employed for six (6) consecutive years prior to December 31, are 

entitled to fifteen (15) working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year.  Full-time 

employees employed for fifteen (15) consecutive years prior to December 31, are entitled to twenty (20) 

working days vacation with pay during the next calendar year. Full-time employees employed for 

twenty (20) or more consecutive years prior to December 31 are entitled to twenty-five working days 

vacation with pay during the next calendar year. Should an employee be unable to use all of his/her 

vacation days during the calendar year when said days are awarded, he/she shall have one-

hundred and twenty (120) days during the ensuing year to use any unused days. 
 

 

C. Both the Union and the Board recognize that the proper maintenance of school facilities is a team effort 

which is necessary for the Elkhart Community Schools to provide a clean and safe environment for staff 

and students.  At the same time, the Board acknowledges the need for custodial staff members to use 

available vacation time in a manner that is conducive to their personal and family needs.  With this 

understanding in mind, all requests for vacation are subject to the approval of the building principal and 

the Director of Building Services/designee.  Because of the importance of maintaining coverage in 

elementary buildings, the scheduling of vacation time for custodians in elementary buildings will follow 

these guidelines: 

 

In order to allow for proper coverage planning, the custodian will advise the building principal and the 

Director of Building Services/designee as to requested vacation dates at least five (5) work days and no 

more than thirty (30) days prior  to the first requested date.  The Director of Building Services shall 

have the discretion to waive these timelines when he/she determines that special circumstances 

exist. When school is in session, the maximum number of vacation days that will be considered in a 

calendar week will be three (3). 

 

1. The building principal and the Director of Building Services/designee will both review the 

request to determine if accommodating the request will create an unreasonable burden for 

coverage in the building from other sources, such as the custodial pool or the custodial staff in 

middle schools and high schools. 

 

2. Where multiple requests have been received from different buildings for use of the same 

vacation dates and the Director of Building Services/designee has determined that all of such 

requests cannot be accommodated, the request of the custodian whose vacation request was 

received earliest will be given highest priority for consideration. In the event that multiple 

requests for use of the same vacation dates were received on the same date, the request of 

the custodian with the greatest seniority as defined in this agreement will be given highest 

priority consideration. 

 

G. For the sole purpose of determining vacation benefit eligibility; employees who transfer from a 

school-year position to a 12-month position will be granted years of service based on the following 



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

conversion formula. NOTE: the years of service conversion is only applicable for the purpose of 

vacation benefits. This computation does not replace the total years of service invested with 

Elkhart Community Schools for the purposes of Retirement benefits or Staff Recognition.  

 

The employee’s employment record with Elkhart Community Schools for all positions held will 

be considered. Using the number of paid hours per day, multiplied by the number of paid days 

per school year, divided by 2080 to obtain the number of years equivalent to a 12-month position. 

The total number of equivalent years will be rounded up to nearest whole number. 

 

The calculated number of years of service will be used in determining the total number of day’s 

vacation which such full-time employee is entitled to receive under this policy. The employee will 

receive the total amount of awarded vacation days effective the January following their date of 

conversion. Prior to completing one full year of service, the employee will be entitled to a prorated 

amount of vacation days based on the calculation formula referenced in the paragraph above.     

  



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

 

ARTICLE 23 

 PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS 

F. Representation Fee 

 

Delete 

  



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

ARTICLE 32 

 

 EFFECT OF AGREEMENT AND EFFECTIVE PERIOD 

 

A. This Agreement shall constitute the full and complete understandings and commitments between the 

parties.  The parties agree that all negotiable items have been discussed during the negotiations leading 

to this Agreement and, agree that negotiations will only be re-opened on Appendix A, Article 18-A 

and/or B, and along with one language item designated by the Union and/or Employer for the second 

and third year.  Negotiations will not be reopened on any other item contained herein or not, during the 

life of this agreement. 

 

B. All conditions of employment in effect in the district prior to and at the time this agreement is signed 

are null and void.  This agreement terminates and supersedes all past practices, agreements, 

procedures, traditions, and rules or regulations concerning all rights and benefits of employment, 

whether covered herein or not. 

 

C. This Agreement is made and entered into at Elkhart, Indiana, on February 22, 2013  , by and 

between the Board of School Trustees of the Elkhart Community Schools, County of Elkhart, State of 

Indiana, and the American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, Council 

962 and Local #2925. 

 

D. This Agreement shall be effective on February 23, 2013   , and shall continue in effect 

through December 31, 2021.  This Agreement may be extended in writing by mutual agreement of the 

parties and it is expressly understood that otherwise it shall expire on the date indicated. 

 

E. Whenever any notice is required to be given either of the parties to this Agreement to the other party, 

either shall do so by certified mail at the following addresses: 

 

  If by the Union to the   2720 California Road 

  Superintendent, at   Elkhart, Indiana  46514 

 

  If by the Employer to the  1422 North Pennsylvania Street 

  Union, at    Indianapolis, Indiana  46202 

 

F. This Agreement is so attested to by the parties whose signatures appear below: 

  



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

APPENDIX B 

 

 2019 Employer 

Share Health & 

Dental Insurance 

Premiums 

Single $5,925.00 

Employee and Spouse $11,000.00 

Employee and Child(ren)  $7,400.00 

Family $15,400.00 

Family Both Employed Full 

Time 

$15,750.00 

 

  



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

 APPENDIX B C 

 

 GRIEVANCE REPORT FORM 

 

       

STEP I - Supervisor of Building Services 

============================================================================ 

Building    Assignment   Name of Grievant   Date Filed 

 

  
 

 STATEMENT OF GRIEVANCE 

 

 

A. Employee(s) involved:_____________________________________________________________ 

 

B. Date grievance occurred:___________________________________________________________ 

 

C. Specific facts giving rise to grievance: 

 

 

 

 

 

D. Section or Provisions of the Master Contract, Board Policy or laws alleged to have been violated: 

 

 

 

 

 

E. Specific relief requested 

 

 

 

 

 

________________________     _________________________________ 

Date        Signature of Grievant 

 

________________________     _________________________________ 

Date received by employer     Signature of Director of Building 

Services or designee 

         

 

F. Disposition by Director of Building Services or designee: 

    

    (Attach response) 

 



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

 

G. Date grievance response distributed: ___________________________ 

 

H. Date received by grievant: ___________________________________ 

 

 

 

STEP 2 – Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services   

 

I. Date Step 2 grievance filed with Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services: ___________ 

 

J. Signature of Grievant: __________________________________________________________ 

 

K. Date received by the Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services: ____________________ 

 

L. Disposition by the Executive Director of Personnel and Legal Services: 

 

   (Attach response) 

 

M. Date response distributed: _____________________ 

 

N. Date received by grievant: _____________________ 

  
 

STEP 3 - Superintendent  
 

O. Date Step 3 grievance filed with the Superintendent: ______________________ 

 

P. Signature of grievant: ______________________________________________ 

 

Q. Date received by Superintendent: _____________________________________ 

 

R. Disposition by Superintendent:  

 

   (Attach response) 

 

S. Date response distributed: _______________________ 

 

T. Date received by grievant: _______________________ 

  
 

STEP 4 - Board of School Trustees 

 

U. Date Step 4 grievance filed with the Board of School Trustees: _________________ 

 

V. Signature of grievant: ____________________________________ 

 

W. Response of Board of School Trustees 



ECS/AFSCME Negotiations 

Tentative Agreement Package 

January 9, 2019 

 
 

 

   (Attach response) 

 

X. Date distributed: ___________________________ 

 

Y. Date received by grievant: ____________________ 

 

 

cc:   Immediate Supervisor  

 















 

INTERNAL MEMO 

 
J.C. Rice Educational Services Center 

2720 California Road • Elkhart, IN 46514 

 

 

 

 

To:   Dr. Steven Thalheimer 

From:  Ms. Cheryl Waggoner 

Date:  January 22, 2019 

 

Personnel Recommendations 

 

CERTIFIED 

 

a. Agreement – We recommend the approval of an agreement regarding unpaid time and an agreement 

regarding location reassignment. 

 

 

b. New Certified Staff – We recommend the following new certified staff for employment in the 

2018-19 school year: 

 

Kristen Milton-Watt   Central/Science 

 

 

c. Maternity Leave – We recommend a maternity leave for the following employee: 

 

Heather Cline    North Side/Math 

Begin:  2/25/19    End:  3/22/19 

 

 

 

 
CLASSIFIED 

 

a. New Hires – We recommend regular employment of the following classified employees: 

 

Christine Banta   Transportation/Bus Helper 

Began: 11/1/18    PE: 1/14/19 

 

Rebecca Bender   West Side/Custodian 

Began: 11/12/18   PE: 1/12/19 

 

Alejandra Galvan   North Side/Food Service 

Began: 11/5/18    PE: 1/18/19 

 

LaVerne Hadley   Central/Food Service 

Began: 11/5/18    PE: 1/18/19 

 

Regina Johnston   Transportation/Bus Helper 

Began: 10/30/18   PE: 1/12/19 



 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

Regina Malkowski   Woodland/Paraprofessional 

Began: 10/31/18   PE: 1/13/19 

 

Terri Martin    Pinewood/Food Service 

Began: 11/8/18    PE: 1/22/19 

 

Channa McGee   Beck/Secretary 

Began: 11/2/18    PE: 1/15/19 

 

Christopher McGrath   North Side/Paraprofessional 

Began: 10/30/18   PE: 1/12/19 

 

Terry Springer    Bristol/Custodian 

Began: 11/12/18   PE: 1/11/19 

 

Alison Tipton    North Side/Paraprofessional 

Began: 10/30/18   PE: 1/12/19 

 

Heather Wong    Cleveland/Food Service 

Began: 10/31/18   PE: 1/12/19 

 

 

b. Resignation – We report the resignation of the following classified employees: 

 

Angela Anderson   Pierre Moran/Custodian 

  Began: 9/9/13    Resign: 1/11/19 

 

  Donna Karacson   Memorial/Food Service 

Began: 8/28/06    Resign: 6/6/19 

 

Michael McMahon   Riverview/Paraprofessional 

Began: 9/25/18    Resign: 1/10/19 

 

Whitney Miller   Beardsley/Food Service 

  Began: 9/14/18    Resign: 1/18/19 

 

 

c. Unpaid Leave Request  – We recommend an unpaid leave of the following employee: 

 

Jessalyn Rink    Transportation/Bus Helper 

Began: 12/12/18   End: 1/25/19 

 

 


	Agenda
	Minutes - Public Work Session January 8 2019
	Minutes - Organizational Meeting January 8 2019
	Minutes - Board of Finance 2019
	Minutes - Regular Meeting  - January 8 2019
	Balance Sheet - December
	12.2018

	Gift Acceptance - Community Education
	Gift Acceptance - Food Service
	Gift Acceptance - MHS Athletic
	Inter-fund Loan Memo
	Appropriation Transfers
	2018

	Resolution To Transfer Amounts From Education Fund
	Resolution Authorizing Procurement Cards
	Resolution for Design-Build ETI Building Project
	Fundraisers
	Monthly Insurance Report
	Tentative Custodians Agreement
	Overnight Trip Request
	Conference Leave Requests
	Conference Leave Request - Perkins
	Personnel Report

